1978

Loye E. Martindale, Darwin W. Larson, Carol W. Clay Logan City Municipal Corporation; and the Municipal Council of Logan City v. Mayor Desmond L. Anderson, City Attorney J. Blaine Zollinger, City Auditor And Budget Director Duane A. Beck : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a declaratory judgment action wherein the Plaintiffs sought an adjudication in regard to the respective powers of the Municipal Council and of the Mayor under the council-mayor optional form of municipal government.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court entered a declaratory judgment holding that the mayor has only the powers specifically granted him by statute and that all other powers, including the executive powers not specifically granted to the mayor, are vested in the municipal council.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendant-appellant seeks an adjudication by this court that under the statutes of the State of Utah in a municipal government organized and established under the optional form known as the council-mayor form, all executive power is vested in the mayor and all legislative power in the municipal council. The appellant also seeks reversal of the trial court's ruling in regard to specific matters where such rulings are based on erroneous decisions as to the scope of the mayor's power.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The 1975 session of the Legislature of the State of Utah enacted the Optional Forms of Municipal Government Act, Act of March 12, 1975, Ch. 33, § 1 et. seq. [1975], Laws of Utah 106 (repealed 1977) [hereinafter cited as the 1975 Optional Forms Act]. In the spring of 1975, citizens of Logan, Utah, took steps to initiate an election to determine whether or not the city should adopt the council-mayor form of government as provided for by the 1975 Optional Forms Act, § 10 (1975), in place of the traditional commission form of government which had theretofore been in effect. In an election held July 1, 1975, the new form of government was approved to become effective on the 5th day of January, 1976. The Mayor,

having two years left to run on his elected term, carried over from the commission form into the new mayor-council form of government. Five new councilmembers were elected in the municipal election in the fall of 1975.

Within the first year of the operation under the new form of government, a dispute arose between the Mayor and three of the members of the municipal council as to the extent of the Mayor's authority under the new form of government. Three of the councilmembers took the position that the Mayor had only those powers specifically delegated to him by statute while all other municipal powers, both legislative and administrative, were vested in the municipal council. The Mayor and two of the councilmembers took the position that all of the executive power was vested in the Mayor and all of the legislative power in the council. That same division of opinion still persists. The three councilmembers that sought to restrict the Mayor's power were the parties Plaintiff in this action below, while the other two councilmembers who agreed with the Mayor in interpreting the scope of his power have appeared as amicus curiae in this case in support of the Appellant's position.

The principal points of contention between the Appellant and the opposing councilmembers have to do with the Mayor's authority to manage city property -- specifically to

buy and sell property -- and with the Mayor's authority to make budget adjustments after the council has adopted a budget. The Mayor's position was that the new council-mayor form vested in him exclusive authority over all specific property transactions, their being administrative acts exercisable only by the Mayor as executive within the new separate powers municipal government. The municipal council was of the view that, since Utah statutes did not expressly grant real property authority to the Mayor, he could not enter into specific transactions without council approval. The council also urged that all such transaction already effected by the Mayor alone were void, subject to rescission. Obviously, a resolution of this dispute is a central aim of this appeal.

A dispute also arose below as to the obligation of the Mayor to provide information to the council. The Mayor took the position below that in the absence of a specific resolution or ordinance by the council, his obligation under the statutes to report to the council was to report on the state of the city in the time and form in which he chose to report. On the other hand, one councilmember, the Plaintiff Larson, demanded that the Mayor search the records, compile and make copies of certain documents and deliver them to him. This the Mayor declined to do but did not contest the right of the Plaintiff Larson to examine the documents in question and to make copies for himself. While this appears to

be a rather petty argument, it shows the extent to which differing interpretations of the parties' respective powers and duties disrupted city governance and underscores the need for a definitive ruling on these questions from this court.

During the evidentiary hearing on the case, it developed that there was no dispute between the Plaintiff and Defendant as to some of the claims for relief set forth in the complaint. In regard to the third claim for relief, both sides agreed that the Mayor could make intra-departmental budget transfers without council approval but could not make inter-departmental transfers without such approval. The court held that there was one incident of an inter-departmental transfer made by the Mayor without council approval. Appellant is unable to identify any evidence substantiating this holding, but in view of the fact that both sides agree as to the general principle, there seems to be no need for declaratory relief on this particular issue.

However, the court held below that even in case of an intra-departmental transfer, the Mayor cannot use funds from a specifically budgeted-for item to purchase a different object even in cases of need, without council approval, but may only readjust uncommitted funds. The Mayor, on the other hand, contends that within a department, specific mention of particular items to be purchased are advisory only and that

the Mayor with the consent of the Budget Officer may transfer funds which are recommended for the purchase of a road grader, for example, to the purchase of an automobile or even to the employment of additional personnel, as the city's needs indicate.

In regard to the Fourth Claim for Relief, The Approval of Subdivisions, Appellant agrees that while the approval and recording of subdivision plats is in the nature of an executive action, because of the peculiar wording of the state statute, this power rests with the council. However, it is the position of the Appellant that a valid delegation of such authority to the Mayor was made by the council, by ordinance. (Record, p. 241-4)

In regard to the Fifth Claim for Relief, Appellant agrees that the council may spend city funds for the prosecution of this action to determine their rights and duties. On the other hand, appellant questions the right of the council to use city funds to pay for legal services to set aside consummated real estate transactions made by the Mayor. Both sides agree, however, that the resolution of this matter depends upon the resolution of the main question in this action, namely, did the Mayor have the right to make the real estate sales and purchases?

The Seventh Claim for Relief was dismissed by stipulation.

Therefore, this case distills to a determination of the following issues:

1. Does the alternate council-mayor form of government create a true separate-powers government thereby vesting the whole of executive power in the Mayor?
2. Is the management of city property, including the purchase and sale of property within budget limitations, an executive power?
3. Is the decision to adjust committed funds from one item to another as the city's needs dictate an executive power and, therefore, not subject to the specific departmental budget recommendations made by the municipal council?
4. What is the extent of the Mayor's obligation to assemble information for individual councilmembers?

It is the position of the Appellant that the factual situation was not sufficiently clear for the court below to have granted summary judgment on several of the points covered in the first order. However, the factual situation is sufficiently clear at the present time as a result of the later evidentiary hearing to enable this court and counsel to delineate the basic issues presented by this case. Appellant, therefore, will not press on appeal the question of the propriety of the summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE 1977 ALTERNATIVE FORMS OF MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT GOVERNS ALL GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS IN A CITY ADOPTING A COUNCIL-MAYOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT AND PROVIDES FOR A COMPLETE SEPARATION OF EXECUTIVE AND LEGISLATIVE POWER.

It is Appellant's position that Utah's legislature intended the optional council-mayor form of municipal government established by the 1975 Optional Forms Act, as amended by Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1201, et seq. (Supp. 1977), to be patterned after the federal and state separate-power models. See U.S. Const., art. I. §I, art. II §1; Utah Const., art. V §1. The point of departure in any analysis of a particular type of governmental power is the organic law that creates the government itself. In the case of the federal and state governments, this creating body of law consists of these respective constitutions. In the case of the municipal model, state statutes are the creating law.

Initially, the state's legislature determines that the needs of the citizenry would be served by smaller, more localized, units of social order. Thus state statutes create municipalities -- new "governments" albiet in an abstract sense. (Utah Code Ann., §10-1-201 (Supp. 1977), repealing, §10-7-1 (1953)).

Since these municipal governments cannot serve the needs of their respective populaces unless they are vested with the ability to act in concrete ways, the state legislature next determines what actions these governments must be able to take. Having determined that it will further the general welfare if municipal governments are able to maintain order, to regulate conduct, and to provide for the needs of their citizens as they arise, the state legislature acts to grant these entities the specific power to do so. Obviously, when the legislature undertakes to grant the municipal government power to act, it grants the whole of that power -- both its legislative and its administrative components. This general vesting of the power in municipal government to act as an entity is reflected in Chapter 8 of Title 10 of the 1953 Utah Code, entitled "Powers and Duties of All Cities." This body of legislation operates as a general grant of the power to act as a government to municipalities.

Section 10-8-2 of the Code empowers the municipal government to:

purchase, receive, hold, sell, lease,
convey and dispose of property real
and personal for the benefit of the
city. . . .

This legislation only grants the governmental entity the specified power -- it says nothing about the manner of its

exercise. Nor does the statute attempt to separate the power to manage city property into its legislative or administrative components. Again, the statute simply vests the "whole" power over city property in the municipal governmental unit.

Having created the municipal unit of government and having vested it with power over its property and citizens, the state legislature then specifies the form under which the new governmental entity will operate. Utah municipalities have traditionally governed through a single body. Sometimes the body was referred to as the "City Council," or "City Commission" and sometimes as the "governing body." There has not traditionally been any provision for a separation of legislative from executive powers. See Utah Code Ann., §10-6-1 to 3 (1953), repealed by §10-1-114 (Supp. 1977), repealing, §10-6-35 (1975). Even under the 1977 Optional Forms Act, one of the two optional forms provided for -- the council-manager form -- continues to vest both executive and legislative functions in a single body.

Although Utah cities were, prior to the 1975 Optional Forms Act, authorized to operate via a mayor and city council or via city commission alone, the council or commission was the part of the city government that held all of the "governmental" power. Where there was a mayor, he was simply an administrator, having no vote on policy matters, and no veto. See Utah Code Ann.

§10-6-24 (1953), repealed, §10-1-114 (Supp. 1977). Thus, while the traditional city mayor might be said to have been a part of municipal government, he held no municipal governmental power, this having been vested in the council by virtue of the statutorily specified form of its exercise. In other words, prior to 1975, the whole of governmental power, both executive and legislative, was vested in city councils and boards of commission simply because that was the only statutorily allowed means of exercising municipal government power.

In 1975, however, the state legislature saw fit to provide an alternative to all Utah cities. This Act did not alter the existence of local governments, nor did it expand or contract the scope of the power vested in these units of government. 1975 Optional Forms Act, §6. What it did was to provide new forms for the exercise of this governmental power because:

increasing demands for services and growing citizen awareness and concern [had] strained the ability of Utah's local governments to respond effectively [and there was therefore] a need to provide optional forms of municipal government under which citizens may vote to organize to meet their needs and desires.

Id. §4, U.C.A. §10-6-112 (1975) repealed, §10-1-114 (Supp. 1977).

One of the alternatives created to meet these new demands was the council-mayor form. This change in form affected municipal governments in two ways. First, it vested

the mayor with governmental power formerly reserved exclusively to councils and to commissions, 1975 Optional Forms Act, §10. Second, it divided this vested governmental power into its executive and legislative components for the first time. See Id., §21.

Unfortunately, the state legislature assumed that it would be clear that this new council-mayor form was to be patterned after the state and federal separate-powers governments. Because this was not made explicit, the 1977 legislature added the following clarifications:

§10-3-101. Each municipality shall have a governing body which shall exercise the legislative and executive powers of the municipality unless the municipality is organized with separate executive and legislative branches of government.

. . .

§10-3-1209. The optional form of government known as the council-mayor form vests the government of a municipality which adopts this form in two separate, independent and equal branches of municipal government; the executive branch consisting of a mayor and the administrative departments and officers; and the legislative branch consisting of a municipal council.

. . . (Emphasis added)

Optional Forms of Municipal Government Act, Utah Code Ann., §10-
et seq. (Supp. 1977) [hereinafter cited as the 1977 Optional Forms Act].

The court below recognized that the 1977 Act was merely a more explicit statement of the intent of the 1975 Act when it stated in its final declaratory summary judgment:

The functions of the council embodied in this section are retained in Section 10-3-1201 of Senate Bill 204, but it does eliminate the phrase that the municipal council is the governing body. However, the functions and duties of the council and the functions and duties of the mayors are not substantially changed and remain basically the same. (R. p. 440).

Finally, therefore, the Utah State Legislature has created a means by which a municipality can exercise its governmental powers that is completely in accord with the federal and state models. Clearly, this new optional form modifies the literal language of Chapter 8 of Title 10 of the Utah Code. Now the "Powers and Duties of all Cities," vest in city councils exclusively, only in cases where the traditional governmental forms are retained. Where the new, optional council-mayor form is implemented, the whole of governmental powers vests in both the mayor and the municipal council. But, again consistent with the federal and state prototypes, the power is divided. The whole of the executive power now vests exclusively in the mayor. The whole of the legislative power now vests exclusively in the municipal council.

The 1977 Optional Forms Act is relatively short. The legislature did not attempt to revise all of the municipal statutes to make them applicable to the new council-mayor form of government nor to specifically explain the effect of the new Act on their interpretation. Rather, it provided in Utah Code Ann. §10-3-1205, (Supp. 1977):

Any municipality operating under this part shall retain and have the right, powers and duties now or hereafter granted to municipalities of the same class and those rights, powers and duties which could be granted the municipalities of the same class.

Therefore, those statutes creating municipalities and granting them corporate powers apply fully to the new form. The interpretation of those statutes, however, with respect to the manner of the exercise of those governmental powers is modified by the division of power established by the new council-mayor form. In short, where the general municipal laws are consistent with the council-mayor form, they are to be literally applied. Where they are not consistent, they are superseded and modified to the extent of the incompatibility.

The difficulty in this case arises principally from the fact that the general municipal law frequently provides that all municipal governmental power is vested in the "governing body" or in the city council or board of commissioners.

To repeat for emphasis, these provisions were all designed to apply to a form of government where the executive and legislative powers were vested in a single "governing body." However, the term "governing body" ceases to have any meaning in a mayor-council form because there is no longer such a single entity. Indeed, as was shown above, the statutes vesting governmental power in any single body are completely modified as applied to this new, separate-powers form of government.

Despite the explicit language contained in the 1977 Optional Forms Act, and the logical modification the Act has had on the general municipal statutes, Respondents continue to maintain that some inherent part of the executive power resides in the municipal council. This position is taken in the memoranda submitted to the trial court by counsel for the Respondents and during oral argument before the trial court. At the time of the evidentiary hearings, counsel for the Respondents stated:

We think, your Honor, that there is a question and that is a very important question, we think that, as Mr. Rampton framed it here, it is in part a question and fundamentally a question as to whether any administrative powers reside in the Council or whether they are in fact only and solely a legislative body. (Tr. p. 130)

In spite of the fact that the law now specifically provides that there is no governing body under the council-mayor form of government and that the intent of the law clearly is that the whole of executive power shall be vested in the mayor and only the legislative powers in the council, the trial court agreed with Respondents and held that the general powers of the municipality, both legislative and executive, reside in the council except where specifically by statute, e.g. Utah Code Ann. §10-3-1219 (Supp. 1977), they are granted the mayor.

Appellant has shown, however, that the question of who is vested with what specific power is not a question of statutory provision, but is, as in all separate-powers governments, a question of whether the power is executive or legislative in nature. The distinction between executive and legislative powers and functions is elaborated below. Nevertheless, it bears noting here that in the case of property transactions, the mayor in this new form has power over specific sales, exchanges, leases and purchases. The council, subject always to mayoral veto, has exclusive power over the amount of monies to be spent and over the general policies that broadly govern all transactions. The same holds true of budget matters. The council's exclusive province is to fix the total departmental budget and amounts. The mayor has the exclusive power

to make adjustments within the budgets as the need arises. No other interpretation is consistent with the distinction between legislative and executive functions as established by this court.

The court below ruled that Logan's municipal council has "exclusive" power over all aspects of city real property transactions (Record, p. 441). This property issue alone warrants this court's reversal and clarification of the rule of law applied.

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