1978

Loye E. Martindale, Darwin W. Larson, Carol W. Clay Logan City Municipal Corporation; and the Municipal Council of Logan City v. Mayor Desmond L. Anderson, City Attorney J. Blaine Zollinger, City Auditor And Budget Director Duane A. Beck : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE GOVERNING POWERS GIVEN MUNICIPALITIES BY TITLE 10 AND OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE STATE OF UTAH ARE VESTED IN THE LOGAN MUNICIPAL COUNCIL EXCEPT THOSE POWERS SPECIFICALLY GIVEN THE MAYOR.  
[Including Response to Appellant Point I, Burtenshaw-Baird Points I-VI and Legislative Counsel Point I-III.]

Respondents respectfully contend the original Optional Forms of Municipal Government Act and its recodified successor are, on their face, clear, specific and unambiguous. This clarity is complemented by meshing the Act with existing statutory and decisional law of the State of Utah and by recurrence to reputable treatises on municipal law and applicable judicial decisions in other jurisdictions.

I(A). Powers given to a municipality are vested in the Municipal Council unless expressly delegated to the Mayor or another officer.

The Act itself in original Sections 10-6-104 and 10-6-113 clearly stated that the Municipal Council was the "governing body," to wit:

The municipal council . . . shall be the governing body of that municipality and shall pass ordinances appropriate funds, review municipal administration, and perform all duties that may be required of them by law.

Original Section 10-6-113. Apart from the inherent substance of the words "governing body," those same words are used throughout the Utah statutes as terms of art which describe the locus of power within the municipal corporation. See, Sections 10-10-23 et seq.; see also Section 10-8-8.1. The Optional

Forms of Municipal Government Act meshes into this existing state law by its own Section 10-3-1204 which provides in relevant part:

All existing statutes governing municipalities shall remain applicable except as provided in this act.

Note also the final clause of Section 10-3-1210 which, after having clearly deemed the municipal council "the governing body," states that they are to "perform all duties that may be required of it by law." If the intention of that Section wasn't to tie the new Act back to existing state law setting out the duties of governing bodies, to what law does the Section refer?

The universal rule of legislative construction, express unius est exclusio alterius, indicates that when a legislature expressly enumerates powers given, those powers not given or enumerated are considered to be expressly withheld. The Utah Legislature carefully and specifically defined in Section 10-3-1204 the powers to be held by the Mayor:

In the optional form of government known as the council-mayor form, the mayor shall be a registered voter of the municipality from which is he elected and shall be elected for a term of four years. The mayor shall be the chief executive and administrative officer of the municipality. He shall have the power and duty to:

1. Enforce the laws and ordinances of the municipality;
2. Execute the policies adopted by the council;
3. Appoint and remove administrative assistants, including a chief administrative officer, and with the advice and consent of the council, appoint or remove department heads; and appoint or remove all other officers, commissions, boards, and committees of the municipality, except as may otherwise be specifically limited by law. Where state law provides for the appointment of municipal committees by the governing body, in the council-mayor form of government, the mayor shall appoint the members of the committee;

4. Exercise control of all departments, divisions, and bureaus within the municipal government;
5. Attend all meetings of the council with the right to take part in all discussions and the responsibility to inform the council of the condition and needs of the municipality and make recommendations and freely give advice to the council, except that the mayor shall not have the right to vote in council meetings;
6. Appoint a budget officer for the purpose of conforming with the requirements of the uniform municipal fiscal procedures act and in all other respects fulfill the requirements of that act;
7. Appoint with the advice and consent of the council a qualified person to each of the offices in cities of recorder, treasurer, engineer, and attorney and, in towns, town treasurer and clerk; create any other offices as may be deemed necessary for the good government of the municipality, and make appointments to them; and regulate and prescribe the powers and duties of all other officers of the municipality, except as provided by law or by ordinance;
8. Furnish the municipal council with a report, periodically as determined by ordinance, setting forth the amounts of all budget appropriations, the total disbursements to date from these appropriations, and the amounts of indebtedness incurred or contracted against each appropriation (including disbursements and indebtedness incurred and not paid) and the percentage of the appropriations encumbered to date, which reports shall be made available for public inspections; and
9. Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by this part or may be required by ordinance not inconsistent with this part.

Section 10-3-1219 (emphasis added). See also Section 10-3-1214 with respect to the mayoral veto. Following the accepted rule of construction, powers not specifically enumerated therein are withheld from that officer. Nowhere in the enumeration of Section 10-3-1219 is there any indication or even inference that the Mayor is to possess ultimate and exclusive control over the property, finances, subdivisions, etc., of a municipality.



When the original Optional Forms of Municipal Government Act was recodified in 1977, Original Sections 10-6-104 and 10-6-113, providing that the Municipal Council was the governing body, were replaced with the following:

Each municipality shall have a governing body which shall exercise the legislative and executive powers of the municipality unless the municipality is organized with separate executive and legislative branches of government.

Section 10-3-101 (emphasis added).

The optional form of government known as the council-mayor form vests the government of a municipality which adopts this form in two separate, independent and equal branches of municipal government; the executive branch consisting of a mayor and the administrative departments and officers; and the legislative branch consisting of a municipal council.

Section 10-3-1209 (emphasis added). The trial court in perusing this change recognized that no substantial modification had occurred:

The functions of the council embodied in this section [original Section 10-6-113] are retained in Section 10-3-1201 of Senate Bill 204, but it does eliminate the phrase that the municipal council is the governing body. However, the functions and duties of the council and the functions and duties of the Mayor are not substantially changed and remain basically the same.

Therefore in examining the specific areas of conflict the Municipal Council will be treated as the governing body related to those duties of legislation and other functions provided by law, and the power and duties of the mayor shall be determined under his authority as the chief executive and administrative officer of the municipality. As far as indulging in the semantics involved in the definition of governing power or powers, the Mayor's duties are restricted to those enumerated in the legislation.

T.R. at 440. The trial court recognized that a significant portion of authority formerly vested in the Commission by previous laws had, by the Optional Forms of Municipal Governme

Act been transferred to the Mayor. The authority so transferred was described in Section 10-3-1219 and included enforcement of laws, execution of policies adopted by the Council, appointments, control of administrative departments, etc.

The trial court found it unwarranted to presume that a wholesale grant of power was given to the Mayor by the words "chief executive and administrative officer of the municipality." Appellant's argument to the contrary ignores the fact that in other Utah laws the same terms are used in reference to mayors of municipalities without any such implication. See Section 10-1-104(2) referring to mayors in all cities as "executives" and Section 10-3-809 describing the mayor as the "chief executive officer." See State v. City of Seattle, 492 P2d 1078, in which the Washington Supreme Court finds such words are used loosely without clear legislative intent to force municipal actions into rigid classifications. See also J and M Realty Co. v. City of Norwalk, 239 A2d 534 (Conn. 1968). The Mayor's duties and powers under the Act are clearly defined, no loose and simplistic application of some general sense of what constitutes executive powers should expand those definitions.

This interpretation of the Optional Forms of Municipal Government Act is buttressed by reputable treatises and judicial decisions in other states and Respondents can find no reputable contradictory authority.

It is still the rule [referring to municipal governments having mayor-executive and municipal council-legislative divisions], however, that all powers granted to a municipal corporation are vested in the council unless expressly delegated to some other officer or body.

While the governing body of a municipal corporation is not the corporation itself, howsoever constituted, the council or other governing body is the general agent of the corporation for all purposes and exercises all the corporate powers not expressly committed by law to other boards or officers.

62 C.J.S., Municipal Corporation § 153 at 313 (footnotes omitted, emphasis added). See also §385 at 728-29, e.g. 2A Antieau, Municipal Corporation Law § 22.07 (hereinafter cited as Antieau).

In City of Princeton v. Woodruff, 104 NE2d 748, (Ind. 1952), the Supreme Court of Indiana approved the principle that powers not expressly given by the state legislature to another entity are reserved to the common council:

In every municipal corporation . . . there is and necessarily must be an official body or board constituted and empowered to exercise the sovereign powers of government delegated to, or vested in the corporation by the state . . . [which is] the legislative body or assembly of the municipality.

104 NE2d at 752. The Washington Supreme Court in Othello v. Harder confirmed:

It is the general rule . . . that the powers delegated to a municipal corporation by the legislature are vested in the city or town council unless expressly delegated to some other office or body

284 P2d 1099, 1102 (Wash. 1954), see, e.g., State v. O'Connell, 523 P2d 872, 889 (Wash. 1974) reaffirming Othello holding. In City of New Britain v. Hancock, the Connecticut court had occasion to apply this principle to real property purchases:

In the absence of a specific charter provision giving a similar power to other specified officials of the city, the court construes the charter to vest in the common council the power to purchase the subject land and not to vest that power in any other elected or appointed officials.

373 A2d 859, 862 (Conn. 1976). See, e.g., Shaw v. Common Council of City of Watertown, 63 NW2d 252 (S.D. 1954); Visone v. Reilly, 194 A2d 248 (N.J. Super, 1963). Nor is this a new rule, but one of long-standing significance. See Crouch v. Commonwealth, 189 SW 693, 700-701 (Ky. 1916); Comley v. B'd of Purchase and Supplies, 149 A. 410, 413 (Conn. 1930); 43 Corpus Juris, Municipal Corporation §§ 238, 240; 28 Cyc. 317.

I(B). Mayoral powers described and enumerated by Section 10-3-1219 and elsewhere should be narrowly construed

The Utah Supreme Court has interpreted strictly the powers given municipalities and their officers by Utah municipal law. In Stevenson v. Salt Lake City Corp., the Court, held:

That the powers of the city are strictly limited to those expressly granted, to those necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted, and to those essential to the declared objects and purposes of the corporation, is settled law in this state.

317 P2d 597, 598 (Ut. 1952) (emphasis added). See e.g., American Fork City v. Robinson 292 P. 249 (Ut); Wasfell v. Ogden City, 249 P2d 507 (Ut. 1952). This well worn principle should be followed along with its corollary:

It is a cardinal principle of municipal law that a city has only those powers which are expressly granted to it by the legislature or constitution, or which are necessarily implied from such powers as are granted. A corollary is that a city official has only such powers as are expressly granted to the official by the legislature, or are necessarily implied from those powers which are granted.

Watson v. State, 518 P2d 931, 933 (Wyo. 1974). Municipal officials are limited to those "powers and duties as are confirmed upon them expressly or by necessary implication."

Othello v. Harder, 284 F2d 1099, 1102 (Wash. 1954).

The treatises are in accord, holding that municipal officers "have only such powers as are specifically granted." 37 Am Jur § 260 at 884. The terms used to designate the mayor are not considered to be a substantive grant of power:

The mayor is the official head of a municipal corporation and, as such, is a municipal officer. He is the chief executive officer of the municipality . . . . Also, the term "mayor or chief executive," is a mere description of the office and not of the character or extent of the powers confided to that office . . . .

The mayor's functions, as prescribed in the charter or other governing law, differ in various municipalities, and his powers may be legislative, executive, or judicial, according to the particular governing law. . . .

As in the case of municipal officers generally . . . the functions and powers of the mayor of a city are derived from, and depend entirely on, constitutional, statutory, or charter provisions and valid ordinances, resolutions, or bylaws, passed in accordance therewith; and he takes nothing beyond the powers expressly conferred or necessarily implied.

62 C.J.S. § 543 and 998-999 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added); e.g., 2A Antieau, Supp. at 127.

Thus as summarized in a hoary old Wisconsin case:

They [referring to municipal officers] and each of them, may proceed step by step within their prescribed orbit, and in strict conformity with the law that sets them in motion.

Ricketson v. City of Milwaukee, 81 NW 864, 866 (Wisc. 1900).

Failing this their acts constitute a usurpation of authority and result in the application of the ultra vires doctrines.

exercise unilaterally the authority of a municipal corporation. Not even under the most lenient construction of strong mayor municipal government forms, has any mayor pretended to be so "strong."

I(C). Comparable Mayor-Council, Strong Mayor and Federal government forms do not authorize the mayoral powers which the Appellant has presumed to exercise.

A careful reading of Utah's repealed Strong Mayor Form of Government, Section 10-6-76 et. seq., indicates nowhere a grant to the "strong mayor" of the kind of authority Appellant here asserts. For example, Section 10-6-79 vests the "board of commissioners" with power "to pass ordinances, review municipal administration and to perform all duties that may be required of them by law." This section then clearly removes the board from exercising any "administrative or governing authority conferred upon the mayor." But nowhere in the Act is the mayor conferred authority to incur indebtedness nor to transfer monies from one fund to another nor to buy, sell, and exchange real property. In similar fashion to the Optional Forms of Municipal Government Act, these powers continue to reside in the "commission" or "council."

New Jersey has developed at least fifteen optional forms for municipal government in what must be a record for one state. Parenthetically, we note the laws and annotated cases dealing with this bewildering variety of municipal forms covers six volumes of more than 700 pages each. In that infinite variety, there is not one form in which the mayor,

manager, chief executive or president wields the power asserted by Appellant herein. See N.J. Stat. Ann. 40:60-26 giving power of sale of real property to the "governing body" and which requires notice and public sale or passage of an ordinance and private sale, or resolution and delayed final approval or approval by a named state official. A unilateral sale by a "chief executive" or other titular head is simply not allowed.

New Mexico has what is termed a Mayor-Council form. See New Mex. Stat. Ann. §§ 14-10-1 et. seq. In that form the Council manages the property and the Mayor administers departments, appoints and enforces ordinances. See New Mexico Stat. Ann. §§ 14-10-4, 14-10-6, 14-11-3. Oklahoma has what it calls a Statutory Strong-Mayor-Council Government. See 11 Okl. St. Ann. § 962.1 et. seq. Nowhere in that Oklahoma statute is the "strong mayor" given authority to deal with real property although he very specifically is given authority to purchase supplies, equipment and materials subject to regulation by the Council. 11 Okl. St. Ann. § 962.24. See, e.g., Wash. Code (Rev) § 35A.12 et seq.

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